RECEIVED 05-06-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2015 AP 001581

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALPESH D. SHAH,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DATED JULY 1, 2015, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY The Honorable John Siefert, Presiding Trial Court Case No. 2013TR015163

ANDEREGG & ASSOCIATES Post Office Box 170258 Milwaukee, WI 53217-8021 (414) 963-4590 By: Rex R. Anderegg State Bar No. 1016560

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER A POLICE OFFICER CAN CLAIM "EXIGENT CIRCUMSTANCES" TO JUSTIFY A FORCIBLE BLOOD DRAW FROM A DRIVER THE OFFICER IS INVESTIGATING FOR A CIVIL CHARGE, WHEN THE ONLY EVIDENCE THERE IS PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE MAY BE FOUND IS THE MERE *PRESENCE* OF THC, WHICH THE OFFICER BELIEVES THE DRIVER HAS VERY RECENTLY INGESTED, WHEN THE OFFICER KNOWS, AND THE PROSECUTION CONCEDES, THAT THC WILL REMAIN IN THE BLOODSTREAM FOR A PROLONGED PERIOD OF TIME.

The circuit court: Answered Yes.

II. WHETHER IT WAS OBJECTIVELY REASONABLE TO APPLY THE *PER SE* EXIGENCY RATIONALE OF *STATE V. BOHLING*, WHICH WAS A CASE INVOLVING ALCOHOL AND AN OFFENSE WHERE THE PRECISE MEASUREMENT OF ALCOHOL WAS CRITICAL, TO CIRCUMSTANCES INVOLVING THC, WHERE ONLY ITS MERE PRESENCE MATTERED.

The circuit court: Did not reach or otherwise answer this question.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The appellant believes the Court's opinion will meet the criteria for publication.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant requests oral argument to further explicate the facts and law necessary for the Court to decide the issues presented in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order finding the defendantappellant, Alpesh Shah, guilty of Operating a Motor Vehicle with a detectable amount of Restricted Controlled Substance (THC) in his blood, contrary to section 346.63(1)(am), Stats. (R1; R2). On December 4, 2012, Shah was stopped, arrested and cited for operating with a Restricted Controlled Substance (THC) in his blood. (R2). When Shah refused to consent to a blood test under the Implied Consent Law, a warrantless blood draw was forcibly taken from Shah, the results of which Shah sought to suppress. (R3). On January 29, 2015, the circuit court conducted a hearing on that issue and ultimately denied Shah's motion to suppress. (R16).

On June 30, 2015, the circuit court presided over a bench trial on the charge. (R17). On July 1, 2015, the circuit court rendered its decision and found Shah guilty of the charge. (R18). This appeal followed.¹ (R14).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 2, 2012, at approximately 8:30 a.m., Milwaukee County Sheriff's Deputy Christopher Leranth was patrolling on I-94 westbound in the area of College Avenue when he observed a sedan pass him at an elevated rate of speed. (R16-6-10). Deputy Leranth activated his emergency lights

¹It should be noted that the County, conceding there was insufficient evidence to prove the possession of marijuana charge, and no evidence of ethyl alcohol by which to prove a prohibited alcohol concentration, voluntarily dismissed both of those charges. (R18-2). Moreover, the trial court found Shah not guilty of possession of drug paraphernalia. (R18-9).

and stopped the sedan, which he paced at approximately 84 MPH. (R16-10-11). The driver of the vehicle, who immediately pulled over in the right distress lane when Deputy Leranth activated his emergency lights, was Shah. (R16-11). Nothing about the manner in which Shah reacted or stopped suggested any evidence of impairment to Deputy Leranth. (R16-22). Shah, as it turned out, was on his way to Green Bay to meet clients and associates. (R16-37-38).

Deputy Leranth testified he immediately took note of the fact that Shah, the sole occupant in the vehicle, only rolled his window down about four inches, whereupon the deputy quickly detected the strong odor of burnt marijuana. (R16-11-13). Deputy Leranth asked Shah to roll the window down a bit more and when Shah complied, the odor of burnt marijuana became more prominent. (R16-11). Deputy Leranth also perceived Shah's eyes to be red, glassy and bloodshot, and claimed the vehicle was "smoky." (R16-12-13). He did not, however, notice Shah's pupils to be dilated. (R16-22-23). He also ascertained that the vehicle did not belong to Shah. (R16-23). Nevertheless, he described the marijuana smell as "overpowering," though he did not smell the odor of marijuana on Shah after removing him from the vehicle. (R16-29-30).

Deputy Leranth had called for backup and asked Shah to step out and to the rear of his vehicle, and Shah complied. (R16-14-15). Deputy Leranth then searched Shah's vehicle and found, in the center console, a reddish glass pipe about half full of freshly burned marijuana, and a glass cylinder containing what he believed to be fresh marijuana. (R16-16). Deputy Leranth never observed any odor of alcohol on or about Shah, and his speech was in no way slurred.¹ (R16-26).

When Deputy James Jarvis arrived as back-up, Deputy Leranth turned Shah over to Deputy Jarvis for field sobriety tests. (R16-17-18). Deputy Jarvis arrived to find Shah in the back seat of Deputy Leranth's squad car. (R16-35). Deputy Jarvis began by asking Shah if he had any medical problems, whereupon Shah informed him he had a congenital inner ear problem, and a left knee injury, both of which would make performing field sobriety tests problematic. (R16-37, 41). Deputy Jarvis believed Shah's report of medical issues to be true, and thus asked Shah to instead recite the alphabet, starting with D and ending with Z, which Shah did flawlessly. (R16-42, 46-49). Like Deputy Leranth, Deputy Jarvis also did not detect any odor of alcohol on or about Shah. (R16-38). Moreover, the record is devoid of any suggestion that any deputy involved in the case ever observed Shah to display any unsteadiness or balance problems as he moved about the scene. Nevertheless, Shah was arrested. (R16-19-20, 42).

Deputy Leranth escorted Shah to Froedtert Hospital for what he testified would be a "legal blood draw." (R16-20). Deputy Leranth read the Informing the Accused Form to Shah.

¹Deputy Leranth also found two powdery substances in the vehicle's glove compartment which Shah advised him were sacraments used for religious purposes. (R16-24-25). This was confirmed by field testing. (R16-25). When Shah attempted to explore the circumstances surrounding those substances during the evidentiary hearing, the County objected and the circuit court sustained the objection on the grounds this case involved only marijuana, and not the other substances. (R16-26).

(R16-20). Shah refused to consent to a blood draw, whereupon Deputy Leranth forced a warrantless blood draw from Shah, because, *inter alia*, he felt that Shah "had marijuana in his system while driving." (R16-21). Deputy Leranth conceded that there were no circumstances that would have prevented him from getting a warrant for a blood draw, just that he felt he did not need to do so at that time. (R16-28). The blood test results revealed Delta-9 THC in Shah's blood, and he eventually was convicted of the charge issued - Operating a Motor Vehicle with a detectable amount of a Controlled Substance. (R17-49-53; R18).

ARGUMENT

I. THE WARRANTLESS BLOOD DRAW WAS UNLAWFUL BECAUSE THERE WERE NO EXIGENT CIRCUMSTANCES.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides for "the right of the people to be secure in their persons . . . against unreasonable searches and seizures" Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution also prohibits "unreasonable searches and seizures." When police draw a sample of a person's blood to test it for evidence of a crime, a search under the Fourth Amendment has occurred. *See State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 31, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120; *State v. Faust*, 2004 WI 99, ¶ 10, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371. As noted above, Deputy Leranth directed that Shah's blood be drawn without making any effort to obtain a warrant.

Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable unless they fall within a well-recognized exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Foster*, 2014 WI 131, ¶ 32, 360 Wis. 2d 12, 856 N.W.2d 847. One well-recognized exception - the exception at issue in the case *sub judice* - is where there is probable cause to believe the search will reveal evidence of a crime *and* exigent circumstances exist in the form of a threat that evidence will be lost or destroyed if time is taken to obtain a warrant. *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 537–38, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993). *State v. Parisi*, 2016 WI 10, 367 Wis. 2d 1, 875 N.W.2d 619. Here, the burden was on the County to establish both. *State v. Hughes*, 2000 WI 24, ¶¶ 17–18, 233 Wis.2d 280, 607 N.W.2d 621. The burden was heavy, as the County was required to do so by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. St. Martin*, 2011 WI 44, ¶ 19, 334 Wis. 2d 290, 800 N.W.2d 858. The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is "reasonableness." *Faust*, 2004 WI 99 at ¶ 32, *quoting Florida v. Jimeno*, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991).

This Court will review an order granting or denying a motion to suppress evidence as a question of constitutional fact, which calls for a two-step inquiry. *State v. Robinson*, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463. This Court will accept the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous and then review the application of constitutional principles to those historical facts de novo. *Foster*, 2014 WI 131 at ¶ 27; *Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134 at ¶28. Here, the circuit court made no findings of historical fact. (R16). Thus, this Court should simply review the legal issue presented de novo, with no deference to the circuit court's decision.

Shah was arrested, charged, prosecuted, and convicted of Operating a Motor Vehicle with a Detectable Amount of a Restricted Controlled Substance in his system. The statute underlying this charge is section 346.63(1)(am), Stats., which states:

> No person may drive or operate a motor vehicle while . . . [t]he person has a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood.

The record reveals the "detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance" Deputy Leranth believed was in Shah's blood was THC. Section 340.01(50m), Stats., defines

"restricted controlled substance" in this context as "Delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol." Shah concedes the circuit court could have determined there was probable cause for Deputy Leranth to believe this substance was in his system. The question before this Court is whether exigent circumstances justified forcibly entering Shah's body without a warrant to extract blood in the search for it.

To that end, it should be noted Shah was not arrested or charged with operating under the influence of THC, but instead, of operating with a detectable amount of THC in his system. The *amount* of THC in Shah's system was therefore irrelevant; only its *presence* mattered. Moreover, every fact available to police to establish probable cause to believe THC could be found in Shah's blood also established the overwhelming likelihood that Shah had ingested the substance just prior to the stop. Both deputies testified to the strong odor of burned marijuana emanating from the vehicle, the alleged smoky interior, and the partially burned marijuana found in the marijuana pipe.

The trial court, unfortunately, did not offer anything helpful in terms of analysis, simply stating:

All right. Well, I'm ready to rule on this issue. I don't see anything wrong with this arrest, quite frankly. I think there was probable cause for the arrest. There's probable cause to require that he submit to the blood draw. All three motions are going to be denied. (R16-64). Conspicuous by its absence is any discussion of whether there were exigent circumstances to justify a warrantless blood draw.

Largely dispositive, against this backdrop, is the wellknown fact that delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol, following ingestion, remains in an individual's blood for a relatively lengthy period of time. This fact is further established by the record in this case. Indeed, it is the only conclusion that can be drawn from the record below, which is a critical point given the County's burden of proof on the matter. Hughes, 2000 WI 24 at ¶¶ 17–18. Deputy Leranth, who ordered the blood draw, testified that although the level may dissipate, "you're still going to find it." (R16-21). The County's expert in this case testified it will remain for a period of nine to twelve hours. (R17-62). This presents the very antithesis of an exigency. See also Pruitt v. State, 589 S.E.2d 864 (Ga. App. 2003)(presence of THC metabolites in urine sample signified defendant had ingested marijuana within 48 to 72 hours of when urine sample taken).

The test for determining the existence of exigent circumstances is an objective one." *Robinson*, 2010 WI 80 at ¶ 30. To determine if exigent circumstances justified a search, a reviewing court determines "whether the police officers under the circumstances known to them at the time reasonably believed that a delay in procuring a warrant would . . . risk the destruction of evidence." *Id.* The County did not, and cannot, meet that legal standard in this case. Deputy Leranth did **not** testify that he drew blood because he believed a delay in procuring a warrant would risk the destruction of evidence. On the contrary, he testified that: (1) nothing prevented him from getting a warrant; (2) which he did not get simply because he

did not think it necessary; and (3) despite the fact he knew the evidence would still be findable.

The County, of course, relied on *Bohling, supra*, which held that the dissipation of "alcohol" in the bloodstream created a *per se* exigency that justified a warrantless blood draw in the case of suspected drunk drivers. (R16-54-55). *Bohling*, however, and as this Court knows, was abrogated by *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. —, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 185 L.Ed.2d 696 (2013). Moreover, *Bohling* was a case involving *alcohol* while this case involves *THC*. This critical distinction was not lost on Wisconsin's Attorney General when, in a recent case involving the dissipation of a synthetic substance (heroin) in an individual's blood, he conceded the absence of any exigency under the very circumstances posed by this case:

> What I am saying is that because this really good evidence, this really probative evidence dissipates so quickly, at least in the case of heroin, and the public defender brought up some other drugs like marijuana and things like that, this is a whole different animal. I agree if this is a marijuana case, we would be done. We would be done because marijuana being a natural substance ... it doesn't break down.

Id. at ¶73. (Emphasis added: dissenting opinion, J. Bradley). The County's expert in this case referred to this characteristic of THC as "marijuana [being] very sticky." (R17-62).

It is not, however, merely the protracted presence of THC in the system that blunts any exigency. It is also the nature of the motor vehicle law pertaining to THC under which Shah was arrested and prosecuted which, unlike alcohol-related prosecutions, does not have a prohibited level with a corresponding presumption of impairment. *See* section 885.235(4), Stats. There is therefore no corresponding urgency to obtain a blood sample from a suspect before his THC level crosses a particular Rubicon between illegality and legality, as is the case with alcohol, because no such divide exists. On the contrary, the mere presence of THC is all that is needed for a conviction. To that end, the qualitative aspect of the test is primary, while any quantitative aspects of the test are largely redundant. And as applied to the particular facts of this case, the only reasonable conclusion was that Shah's THC levels were on the rise, not the decline, because the officers testified that every indication was that Shah had been smoking marijuana just before being pulled over.

Under these circumstances, the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule cannot get any traction. When the police act in accordance with clear and settled Wisconsin precedent in ordering the warrantless investigatory blood draw, application of the exclusionary rule would be both inappropriate and unnecessary. State v. Kennedy, 2014 WI 132, ¶ 37, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834. The good-faith exception precludes application of the exclusionary rule where officers conduct a search or seizure in objectively reasonable reliance upon clear and settled Wisconsin precedent that is later deemed unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court. Id. However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has noted that the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule should only be employed when the case upon which law enforcement purports to rely has "spoken with specificity in a particular fact situation." State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, ¶46, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. *Dearborn* further noted that "[t]he vast majority of cases, particularly in the fact-intensive Fourth Amendment context, will not fall into this category." *Id*.

It is true *Bohling* was the settled law in Wisconsin at the time Deputy Leranth foisted a warrantless blood draw on Shah. However, what was "clear and settled" following *Bohling* was that the dissipation of *alcohol* from a person's bloodstream, *in a case where its precise measurement is the most critical piece of evidence for the crime under investigation*, constitutes a sufficient exigency to justify a warrantless blood draw. *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 547. (Emphasis added). *Bohling* neither clarified nor settled the law as it pertained to marijuana. Indeed, section 346.63(1)(am), Stats. – the section under which Shah was arrested and prosecuted - did not even exist at the time *Bohling* was decided.

Bohling, in other words, did not involve THC nor did it involve a case where the mere presence of the substance was dispositive of the charge in question. On the contrary, *Bohling* involved *ethyl alcohol* and it was a case where the precise measurement was critical. This case, by contrasts, involves marijuana and is a case where all that mattered was the "presence" of Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol, regardless of any measured level. Deputy Leranth, by his own admission, understood the difference between the dissipation of alcohol and the dissipation of THC. He also knew that unlike alcohol, the mere presence of THC was all the evidence needed to sustain the charge for which he had arrested Shah. It was therefore not objectively reasonable for Deputy Leranth to believe he could simply push the square peg of *Bohling* into the round hole of this case. Indeed, the entire reasoning underlying Bohling pertained to the unique properties of alcohol, vis-à-vis the underlying charge to be proven:

Delayed testing can significantly prejudice the state's case, if the accused's BAC level drops below the above-mentioned critical amounts before a blood test is administered. Although delayed test results can be used to estimate BAC level at the time of the alleged criminal conduct, such extrapolations can be speculative. Delay in obtaining a blood sample also creates potential problems for drunk-driving defendants. It is recognized that a person's BAC level initially rises for a period of time after drinking stops while alcohol is being absorbed. If a blood sample is not obtained soon after the alleged drunk-driving offense, a defendant may be hampered in demonstrating that, at the time of the alleged offense, alcohol was still being absorbed into the bloodstream and that, therefore, his BAC was actually lower than that obtained by chemical testing of the blood sample.

Bohling at 546-47. None of these bedrock principles upon which *Bohling* was based were or are present in this case.

Finally, it should be taken into consideration that the offense for which Shah was being investigated was not a criminal offense, but instead, a civil forfeiture case. Both *McNeely* and *Bohling* involved the potential destruction of evidence of "a crime" due to the elimination of alcohol from the bloodstream of a drunken driver. *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1556. Even in that scenario *McNeely* noted that while the

natural dissipation of alcohol in the blood may support a finding of exigency in a specific case, it does not do so categorically, but instead, must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* at 1563.

Part of the totality of the circumstances in this case is that neither a crime nor a charge implicating public safety (because it had nothing to do with impairment) was at issue here. As the United States Supreme Court once observed in a case originating in Wisconsin:

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