# **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

07-05-2016

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2015AP001581

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

ALPESH SHAH,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS ENTERED ON JANUARY 29, 2015 AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON JULY 1, 2015, IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN SIEFERT, PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John T. Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Alyssa M. Schaller Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1097936

Karen A. Loebel Deputy District Attorney State Bar No. 1009740

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. BECAUSE THE NON-CONSENSUAL, WARRANTLESS SEIZURE OF SHAH'S BLOOD COMPLIED WITH WISCONSIN LAW THEN IN EFFECT, GOOD FAITH PRECLUDES APPLICATION OF THE EXCLUSIONARY RULE
  - a. Warrantless seizures of a person's blood were governed by *State v. Bohling* at the time of this incident.

As our Supreme Court recently noted,

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit "unreasonable searches and seizures." Warrantless searches are per se unreasonable unless they fall within a well-recognized exception to the warrant requirement.

State v. Parisi, 2016 WI 10, ¶ 28, 367 Wis. 2d 1, 875 N.W.2d 619. (Internal quotations and citations omitted).

One of the well-recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement is the doctrine of exigent circumstances. *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 575, 583-88 (1980); *State v. Hughes*, 2000 WI 24, ¶17, 233 Wis. 2d 280, 289-290, 607 N.W.2d 621; *State v. Smith*, 131 Wis. 2d 220, 228, 388 N.W.2d 601 (1986). That exception applies when the exigencies of the situation make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that a warrantless search is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. *Parisi*, 367 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 29, 875 N.W.2d 619, citing *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. , 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1558 (2013).

Until the United States Supreme Court's decision in *McNeely* was announced in 2013, "forced blood draws"—that is blood taken without consent and without a warrant—were governed by *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 537-38, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993). *State v. Reese*, 2014 WI App 27, ¶17, 353 Wis. 2d 266, 844 N.W.2d 396.

# b. The *Bohling* test applied in instances where an officer reasonably believes drug intoxication is present.

In *Bohling*, the Court found that "the dissipation of alcohol from a person's blood stream constitutes a sufficient exigency," per se, to justify a warrantless blood draw. *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 533, 494 N.W.2d 399. The Court therefore held that officers were permitted to obtain blood without a warrant and without consent when (1) the blood was taken to obtain evidence of intoxication from a person lawfully arrested for a drunk-driving related violation or crime; (2) a clear indication existed that the blood draw will produce evidence of intoxication; (3) the method used to take the blood sample was reasonable and is performed in a reasonable manner; and (4) he arrestee presented no reasonable objection to the blood

draw. *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 533–34, 494 N.W.2d 399. Thus under *Bohling*, a blood sample could be obtained without the showing of any additional exigencies.

Bohling specifically noted the dissipation of alcohol from a person's system as an exigent circumstance. It is the County's position that the dissipation or metabolization of a controlled substance creates the same exigency, per se. As a consequence, Bohling applies in cases of operating while under the influence of a controlled substance, such that no additional exigency is required.

Like alcohol, a controlled substance will be eliminated from a person's blood in time. While the elimination period may differ from that of alcohol, and while some drugs may be in a person's system long enough for a warrant to be obtained, there is no way for an officer to know whether that time exists when making an arrest for operating while under the influence of a controlled substance.

First, until the blood is drawn, the officer cannot be certain what drugs have been consumed: street drugs are not produced under the controls attendant to the alcohol industry. A person may intend to consume one drug, but may find it was a different one, or laced with a different one. A person may intentionally have taken more than one drug; or, a person may not be truthful about what drug he has taken: he may admit to having taken one, but may actually have taken a different drug, or a combination of drugs.

Second, an officer cannot be certain when the drug was consumed, and cannot be expected to know metabolization data for every controlled substance.

Shah seems to argue that metabolization or dissipation is irrelevant in drugged driving cases, that no exigency exists because the restricted controlled substance law requires only the presence—not any particular amount—of the restricted controlled substance. (*Id.*, p. 11, 14). The argument follows that an immediate blood draw is not necessary: it doesn't matter if the level of the drug dissipated, because the level is irrelevant. This position is in error, for several reasons.

While the mere presence of a restricted controlled substance may be sufficient to prove guilt in a charge of operating a motor vehicle while having a restricted controlled substance in the blood under Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), the level could be relevant to a companion charge of operating a motor vehicle under the influence of a controlled substance, under 346.63(1)(a). Moreover, not all controlled substances are restricted controlled substances.<sup>2</sup> Amphetamine and ketamine, among many others, are Schedule II and Schedule III drugs, and thus not restricted controlled substances. Wis. Stat. §§ 961.16(5)(a), 961.18(4)(ak). Operation of a motor vehicle following consumption of such drugs could not be prosecuted under Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), and the mere presence of a such a drug in a person's blood would not support a conviction under Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). And, as a matter of common sense, even restricted controlled substances will metabolize to a point where they are no longer detectable.

The County's position that *Bohling* is applicable in drugged driving cases is supported by the Court of Appeals' decision in *State v. Malinowski*, No. 2010AP1084-CR, unpublished slip op. (WI App Nov. 10, 2010)<sup>3</sup> (Appendix 101). In *Malinowski*, an officer (Officer Long) stopped Malinowski because of unusual driving. On contact with Long, Malinowski appeared lethargic and confused, had difficulty producing his drivers' license, and seemed confused. From her continued contact, the field sobriety tests and PBT result (which did not register the use of alcohol), Long formed the opinion that Malinowski was under the influence of drugs. She arrested him and transported him to a hospital for a blood test. When

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The term "restricted controlled substance," is defined in Wis. Stat. § 340.01 (50m):

<sup>&</sup>quot;Restricted controlled substance" means any of the following:

<sup>(</sup>a) A controlled substance included in schedule I under ch. 961other than a tetrahydrocannabinol.

<sup>(</sup>am) The heroin metabolite 6-monoacetylmorphine.

<sup>(</sup>b) A controlled substance analog, as defined in s. 961.01(4m), of a controlled substance described in par. (a).

<sup>(</sup>c) Cocaine or any of its metabolites.

<sup>(</sup>d) Methamphetamine.

<sup>(</sup>e) Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol.

An unpublished, but authored, opinion issued on or after July 1, 2009 may be cited for persuasive value. Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(3)(b)

Malinowski refused to consent to a blood test, the officer ordered his blood be drawn anyway. He was later charged with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of a controlled substance (OWI), second offense.

Pre-trial, Malinowski moved to suppress the blood test results. He argued the warrantless blood draw violated the Fourth Amendment and that the officer should have obtained a warrant before drawing his blood. He conceded that—had he been suspected of being under the influence of alcohol— Bohling would have permitted a warrantless blood draw. However, like Shah, he argued that *Bohling* did not permit a warrantless blood draw in a controlled substances case: he contended that, while alcohol in the blood begins to diminish shortly after drinking stops, the same is not true of drugs. He argued that exigent circumstances are therefore not present are not present in a case where drugs, rather than alcohol, form the basis for an OWI arrest. In contrast, the State contended that exigent circumstances permitted the warrantless blood draw because drugs dissipate, or are metabolized, over time. The circuit court denied Malinowski's suppression motion, finding that exigent circumstances justified taking his blood without a warrant, and Malinowski appealed.

The court of appeals concluded, as a matter of first impression, that exigent circumstances permit a warrantless blood draw from a person arrested for operating while under the influence of a controlled substance.

The *Malinowski* court "agreed with the majority of jurisdictions that it is not necessary to distinguish between alcohol and drugs for purposes of the exigent circumstances exception." *Id.* at ¶¶13-14. It cited with approval the California Court of Appeals decision in *People v. Ritchie*, 181 Cal. Rptr. 773 (Cal. Ct. App. 1982), a drugged driving case where exigent circumstances were present because "drugs in the blood stream, like alcohol, dissipate." *Id.* at 775. The *Malinowski* court agreed with *Ritchie* that 'distinguishing between alcohol and drugs in the context of determining exigent circumstances is a "needless refinement." The *Malinowski* court wrote,

¶ 16 We agree with the *Ritchie* court's analysis. Like alcohol, the amount of drugs present in the blood stream begins to dissipate following consumption. Thus, the mere passage of time operates to destroy evidence of the defendant's intoxication. For this reason, exigent circumstances justified the warrantless draw of Malinowski's blood.

State v. Malinowski, No. 2010AP1084-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶ 16 (WI App Nov. 10, 2010).

The court also rejected Malinowski's contention that Long's ignorance of the dissipation rate defeated an exigence circumstances claim:

- ¶ 17 Malinowski argues that even if drugs dissipate from the blood over time, and even if some drugs dissipate rapidly, there were no exigent circumstances in this case because Long had no way of knowing how quickly the particular drugs in Malinowski's blood would dissipate. However, we again agree with the Ritchie court that there is "no basis for a requirement that law enforcement officials ascertain the nature of the drug ingested in order to determine just how fast it will dissipate." Id. "Although some drugs may be detectable for long enough that police can obtain a warrant, police officers cannot know with certainty which drugs are affecting [a] suspect[]" until a blood test is performed. Steimel, 921 A.2d at 385. Because police cannot know which drugs an arrestee has taken without first testing the arrestee's blood, accepting Malinowski's argument would mean that police could almost never obtain a blood draw of a suspected druginfluenced driver without first obtaining a warrant.
- ¶ 18 Here, Long suspected Malinowski was under the influence of a controlled substance, but she did not know which controlled substance he had taken. Consequently, she could not ascertain how quickly that substance would dissipate from Malinowski's blood stream without first obtaining a blood sample. Contrary to Malinowski's contention, Long's ignorance of which drugs Malinowski had taken actually contributed to the exigency that justified ordering a warrantless blood draw.

State v. Malinowski, No. 2010AP1084-CR, unpublished slip op. ¶ 17 (WI App Nov. 10, 2010) (internal footnote omitted).

Here, Leranth believed that Shah had very recently been smoking marijuana. (R17:25) But he also recovered two additional substances: he thought one was cocaine; he had no idea what the other was, but he gave it to another deputy to be field tested for the presence of drugs. (R16:24-26) As in *Malinowski*, Leranth could not be certain what Shah had taken. And, as in Malinowski, Leranth could not know for certain when Shah had consumed whatever he had consumed. He believed the ingestion to be recent, but the pipe was not warm to the touch, (R16:24; R17:25), and although the car smelled like marijuana, Shah, personally did not. (R16:29-30)<sup>4</sup>

In arguing that no exigency existed, Shah repeatedly asserts that he was not arrested or charged with operating under the influence of THC, but only for operating while having a restricted controlled substance in his system. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 7, 9-10). While Shah was tried for Operating with a Restricted Controlled Substance in his blood, the record suggests that he was arrested for Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of a Controlled Substance.

Neither deputy was asked for the statutory section that underlay Shah's arrest, both paraphrased the charge as an "operating under the influence" charge. Deputy Leranth testified, "We felt he was possibly under the influence of marijuana while operating the motor vehicle." (R16:19). Asked specifically about the charge for which Shah was arrested, Deputy Leranth testified,

Q: Okay. But you had arrested Alpesh Shah for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of THC, correct?

A: Correct.

(R16:28)

\_

(R16:13)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On appeal, Shah cites to "the alleged smoky interior" of the vehicle as support that Shah's use was recent. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 7). The testimony, however, suggests that it was the odor of the THC which was smoky (as opposed to fresh), not the interior of the car.

Q: Okay. Could you make any identification of whether there was fresh marijuana or the smell of burnt marijuana in this case?

A: It was definitely the smell of burnt marijuana. It was smokey. (sic)

Deputy Jarvis testified that Shah was arrested for impaired driving, or driving under the influence. He said that, following the field sobriety tests,

Mr. Shah was handcuffed and detained and put in the rear of Deputy Leranth's car for pending a blood draw for determining to see for impaired driving while under the influence of marijuana.

(R16:42-43)

Asked again, Jarvis reiterated that Shah was arrested for impaired driving:

Q: So based on what you said was the drinking earlier, the lack of ability to follow orders, the driving, the fact that you guys found the marijuana pipe with marijuana in it, suspected marijuana, and the driving that you placed him under arrest for that impaired driving?

A: That's correct.

(R16:43-44)

While Shah is correct that the level of a restricted controlled substance is generally irrelevant to a restricted controlled substance charge, the level could be relevant to a charge of operating while under the influence of a controlled substance, where the County would need to prove impairment due to the controlled substance. That the County did not ultimately proceed on that charge is irrelevant: the question is whether, at the time of seizure, there was the risk of loss of evidence, such that an exigency existed.

Under circumstances similar to these, the *Malinowski* court held that the warrantless blood draw was lawful under *Bohling*. This court should hold the same.

c. Shah's admission to drinking alcohol independently justified a warrantless blood draw under *Bohling*.

Even if *Bohling* does not permit warrantless, nonconsensual blood draws where drugs alone are implicated, it would justify the blood draw here. Shah told Deputy Jarvis that that he had four to five drinks, ending at approximately 1:00 a.m. (R16:38). That admission, combined with Shah's apparent inability to see or perceive two squad cars—one of which had its lights on—the impaired driving and his red, glassy and bloodshot eyes (R16:13-14), would warrant a reasonable officer to believe that Shah was under the influence of alcohol, or alcohol and a controlled substance.

The record demonstrates that Deputy Leranth and Deputy Jarvis did suspect both marijuana and alcohol-related impairment. On the form used to submit the blood sample to the Hygiene Laboratory for testing, received in evidence at trial as Exhibit 5, Deputy Leranth requested that the laboratory conduct both an alcohol and full drug panel, rather than just THC or alcohol and THC. (R9:5; Appendix 109) And, testifying about the decision to arrest Shah, Deputy Jarvis explained,

The decision was based on representations that he had indicated that he had drank up until 1:00 that morning with four to five drinks, his inability to follow orders, the inability to ascertain through the standardized field sobriety tests that he possibly could be not following orders, and the strong odor of marijuana, as well as the contents found in the vehicle, in conjunction with the report from Deputy Leranth that he personally observed him pass the fully-marked squad car at a high rate of speed in lane one, northbound on Interstate 43.

(R16: 43-44)

That Shah reported last consuming those drinks some seven-and-a-half hours before the stop made the need to draw blood without delay even more urgent.

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